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CONVENER’S FOREWORD

At the end of our first year, we were full of enthusiasm and determination 

to improve the effectiveness of how the Commission regulates crofting.

At the end of this second year, we are now fully aware of the task we are 

undertaking. However, when the task seemed at its most daunting, it was useful

to take encouragement from the sense of resolve inherent in the Gaelic proverb.

“B’ fheàrr gun tòiseachadh na sguir gun chrìochnachadh”

It is better not to begin than to stop without finishing.

The work we have been undertaking within the

Commission over the last year reminds me of the day our

son decided to wage war on the workshop. He was

repairing a boat and realised how much easier it would be

if the workshop was cleared and tidy. He assembled his

team (the whole family) boiler suits were donned, byre

brushes and shovels lined up and old feed sacks at the

ready for the rubbish.We started with enthusiasm - we

were certain the job would be finished by lunchtime.

Little did we know! We found stuff that hadn't seen the

light of day for decades.There were things no-one knew

what to do with or even remembered what they were for

or why we had them. By lunchtime we realised the task

was a lot bigger than we had thought. But we persevered.

By tea-time we looked around and realised the shed was

looking a lot better - we had lined up the obsolete things,

put up new shelves, sorted out the tools.There was still a 

lot of work to do but we could at last see an end to 

the tidying.

This seems to me a good metaphor for our work within

the Commission. During the last year we have set up a

number of working groups to tackle the 'tidying'. One

working group has conducted a major review of all 

policy and procedure for regulatory applications and

rewritten them so they are consistent with the 

legislation and clearly explain Commission policies.The

group is ably assisted by Derek Flyn retired crofting law

expert who was co-opted to help with this work.

Early in 2013, we made the discovery that the 

legislation as written prevented owner-occupiers from

being able to decroft. It was encouraging to receive 

immediate recognition from Scottish Government 

officials of the need for action and that our Minister, Paul

Wheelhouse was able to command parliamentary support

to change this part of the law by expediting its progress

through the Scottish Parliament.This event prompted the

Crofting Law Group to highlight the need for a review of

crofting legislation and our own internal review of the 

legislation has uncovered a number of inconsistencies.The

list we have collated has made a major contribution to 

the Crofting Law Sump, being administered by Derek Flyn

and Keith Graham.The hope is that the most urgent of

these legal problems can be agreed and then changed.

There has also been sterling work done by the

Complaints Review Group, so that we now have a clear

complaints procedure, and a number of very long standing

unresolved issues have been cleared up.

Governance of the Crofting Commission to ensure sound

financial and risk management is invisible and 

perhaps of little interest to crofters. However, as a public

body, these are necessary and our Audit and Finance

Committee has been working hard to put robust 

systems in place that will ensure we are well run.This

could maybe be likened to putting up new shelves in a

workshop: no-one really notices them unless they are 

not there, but without them everything would be in a 

terrible muddle.



There have been changes to our team while all this tidying

up work has been going on. Firstly, Catriona Maclean

became our new Chief Executive in May 2013.To use the

shed tidying analogy, she very quickly donned her boiler

suit and has calmly and efficiently directed operations

while at the same time contributing to the vision for how

things would eventually look and inspiring and motivating

her team of workers. Donnie Ross, the elected

Commissioner for East Highlands decided to resign and

Marina Dennis was then appointed as a replacement by

the Minister. Marina was previously a Crofters

Commissioner and has wide experience of both practical

crofting and crofting regulation. Sandy Cross, the

Commissioner appointed by the government to represent

the interests of landlords made the decision to resign in

January 2014 due to the pressure of his professional 

work. He was replaced by David Campbell, while Arnie

Pirie, the Commissioner for Caithness and Orkney is 

taking a year's sabbatical from Commissioner duties due

to family commitments.

However, alongside this tidying up within the Commission

we have continued with the normal work of dealing with

over a thousand regulatory applications over the last year,

as well as the new work of registering crofts and common

grazings, which is causing a number of challenges. In 

addition, we ran a series of local conferences throughout

the crofting counties with Assessors and grazing 

committees, with a special focus on registration of crofts.

We also took an active role in the Scottish Parliament's

Cross Party Group on Crofting and made submissions to

a range of consultations including that on CAP Reform,

SNH's consultation on Wild Land and to the Rural Affairs,

Climate Change and Environment Parliamentary

Committee's consultation on greylag geese.

The Crofting Commission is taking every opportunity it

can to raise awareness about the problems being faced

within the crofting system and at the same time highlight

the value that crofting already contributes to fragile rural

communities in the North and West of Scotland and the

potential it has to deliver even more. It is good to remind

ourselves that crofting is a form of land tenure unique to

Scotland and one we should be proud of, with the 

potential to be a major driver for economic, social and

cultural growth. Regulation is there to protect this 

precious asset for present and future generations.We

recognise that what we have achieved is the equivalent of

tidying the shed and we haven't even started repairing the

boat yet. So at the end of our second year, we 

acknowledge what a large task lies ahead of us, but our

determination is just as strong as when we began two

years ago.

Susan Walker

Convener

Left to right; Murdo MacLennan, Marina Dennis, Susan Walker (Convener),
Colin Kennedy (Vice Convener), Ian George MacDonald, Kathleen Sinclair and William Swann.

Top left Arnold Pirie, top right Donnie Ross, bottom left Sandy Cross,
and David Campbell
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S OVERVIEW 

Bliadhna air adhart - Ag obair le cheile

One year on - Working together

Well I'm not sure where the last year has gone. It's been a

busy and enjoyable one but it is hard to believe I have

been Chief Executive of the Commission for a year.

So what's been happening over the last year? We had a

lot of “housekeeping” or internal systems to update but

one of the main areas which might interest crofters was

establishing Short Term Working Groups. One group was

set up to review our policy and procedures, to ensure

they are robust, meaningful and relevant for crofting and

make it easier for crofters and their agents to understand

how regulation of crofting works.This enabled us to revise

our Policy Plan and to finalise the first Corporate Plan for

the Crofting Commission, taking us from 2014 - 2017.

Our next task is to develop Key Performance Indicators to

allow us to measure progress. Many may think “So what?”

But having a Corporate Plan in place is not only essential

for the Commission itself but it also allows crofters,

partner organisations and others to see what our 

priorities are for the next 3 years. I think that level of 

clarity and openness is essential for creating strong 

foundations, if we are to be a first-class regulatory body.

Another working group looked at how to improve our 

services to crofters, including updating our application

forms and guidance to incorporate changes in the 

legislation. We are almost ready to introduce a new 

computer system which will ultimately mean we can

receive and process applications electronically and 

improve efficiency.

Our complaints procedure has also been modernised to

ensure that when things go wrong, as they sometimes do,

it is straightforward for the complainant to let us know.

That way we can respond to and monitor issues, readily

identify problems and resolve them.

There has been a lot of activity with the introduction of

croft registration.The Commission has been working with

Registers of Scotland to embed this process which is new

to crofters, agents, the Commission and Registers of

Scotland.There are still teething problems to sort out, not

least to make sure that applicants understand that in many

circumstances the law says we cannot take decisions on

regulatory applications until the croft is registered.

We are also preparing to issue the Annual Notice or

“Crofting Census” and Duty to Report form, both of

which are compulsory requirements laid down in the

2010 Act which the Commission must administer. Both

will be issued in October 2014. In the Crofting Census

every crofter and owner-occupier crofter will be asked to

provide information on their crofting activity as required

by the legislation. And, in the Common Grazings Census

(Duty to Report form) grazings committees will submit

information on their grazings.

We recently carried out a consultation on the form that

grazings committees will use to complete the Common

Grazings Census.The results of the consultation are 

published on the website and we were pleased that 50%

of all grazing committees who submitted a response didn't

seem to find the form problematic as they filled it in!!

However we will be sending out lots of guidance and

information to ensure that everyone who has to return

information to the Commission knows what to do and

when to do it.

The Census data will increase information gathered from

crofters, owner-occupier crofters and grazings 

committees, enabling us to work together, to highlight

crofting issues to Ministers and the Scottish Parliament. It

will let us make the case for crofting and show its value to

Scotland as a whole and the threats which are facing it.

One of the strengths of the crofting system is the fact 

that crofters have a broad range of interests and 

activities and we should not forget that much of the 

landscape of the highlands and islands was formed by 

generations of crofters breaking in hard and grudging

ground in order to provide food for both man and beast.



Nor should we underestimate the importance of the

crofting system to rural communities, so the Commission

must get it right, but we believe that working together 

we can create a Commission that is modern, relevant,

and makes a real difference to crofting and the people 

of Scotland.

Lastly, but by no means least, I had the opportunity of 

talking to S3 and S4 pupils from Plockton High,

Kinlochbervie High,Whalsay Junior High and the Nicolson

Institute who are engaged in crofting courses, through

“Crofting Connections”. About 30% of them actually live

on crofts. It was so encouraging to see so many young folk

with real enthusiasm for crofting and very knowledgeable

on crofting issues. I took the opportunity to remind them

that being involved in crofting was not just about working

the land but that there were opportunities to work in the

administration of crofting at the Commission, or indeed 

to think about a career as a crofting lawyer or as an 

agricultural officer, any of which might be done in parallel

to running a croft.

I hope in some way I helped to sustain their enthusiasm

and give them an awareness of the Commission's role.

Catriona Maclean

Chief Executive

Gordon Macdonald and Jane Thomas John Toal, Donna Smith and Joseph Kerr
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LEGAL UPDATES AND DEVELOPMENTS

• The croft registration provisions relating to the 

compulsory trigger events of the Crofting Reform 

(Scotland) Act 2010 came into force;

• The Crofting Amendment (Scotland) Act 2013 

which enabled owner-occupier crofters to decroft 

received Royal Assent; and

• The crofting law “sump” was established, to 

identify those aspects of current crofting 

legislation which may require amendment 

or changes.

(1) The croft registration provisions of the Crofting

Reform (Scotland) Act 2010

The final element of the Crofting Reform (Scotland) Act

2010 relating to the registration of croft land came into

effect on 30 November 2013.The Crofting Register will

be map based and will provide a definitive record of the

extent of, and interest in, land within crofting tenure in

Scotland. In addition to showing the boundaries of land,

the Register will also contain information on the tenant,

owner-occupier crofter and/or the landlord of the 

registered croft.The Crofting Register will be maintained

by the Keeper of the Registers of Scotland (RoS), although

the application for registration is made in the first instance

to the Crofting Commission.The establishment of the new

Crofting Register will provide greater legal certainty over

the extent and interest in crofts.

From 30 November 2013 certain events, mainly relating

to the submission of regulatory applications and 

notifications, have triggered a compulsory requirement to

register the croft.The Commission is unable to make a

decision on a regulatory application (with the exception of

subletting by a crofter or letting on a short term lease by

an owner-occupier) or update our records to reflect a

change following a notification until an application to 

register the croft with RoS has been submitted to the

Commission. If no application to register the croft is 

submitted within 6 months of the regulatory application

being made, the Commission will not be able to take a

decision on the regulatory application.

Therefore to avoid delays we have recommended that the

relevant regulatory application or notification to the

Commission should be accompanied by the application 

to register the croft with RoS.The RoS application has to 

be accompanied by a map showing the boundaries of 

the croft along with the registration fee, which is £90 

per croft, with cheques being made payable to the 

Crofting Commission.

Once a croft is registered certain events thereafter 

affecting that croft will require the Crofting Register to 

be updated to reflect any change which has occurred.

These events will require payment of a further fee.

(2) The Crofting Amendment (Scotland) Act 2013 

In February 2013 the Crofting Commission expressed

concern to the Scottish Government that crofting

legislation as it stood did not allow owner-occupier

crofters to decroft as intended. In response the

Government brought forward legislation to ensure that

owner-occupier crofters could apply to decroft land,

similar to the way in which tenant crofters and vacant

croft landlords can apply to decroft.The Bill received the

unanimous support of Parliament, it was dealt with under

an expedited process, and came into force as the Crofting

Amendment (Scotland) Act 2013 on the day it received

Royal Assent, 31 July 2013.This allows:

• owner-occupier crofters to apply to the Crofting 

Commission to decroft the whole or part of 

their crofts;

• the Crofting Commission to give decrofting 

directions on such applications or to refuse 

them; and

• the Crofting Commission not to consider a 

decrofting application if they have previously 

issued a direction to an owner-occupier crofter 

requiring them to submit proposals for letting 

the croft.

During the course of the year there were three important developments in

relation to crofting legislation:



The Act also provides an owner-occupier crofter with an

absolute right to decroft the site of a dwelling-house on

or pertaining to the croft, providing the Commission is 

satisfied that the extent of garden ground included in the

application is appropriate for the reasonable enjoyment of

the dwelling-house as a residence.This reflects the current

situation with tenant crofters and is consistent with the

policy of the Scottish Government and the Commission of

ensuring that, insofar as possible, all crofters are treated

equally, while taking account of the differing status

between tenant and owner-occupier crofters.

The Act contained retrospective provisions which ensured

the 159 decrofting directions issued by the Commission

between 1 October 2011 and 25 February 2013 and the

cases that were being held in abeyance by the

Commission were legally competent, without the 

requirement for new applications to be submitted.

(3) The Crofting Law “Sump”

During the parliamentary debate on the Crofting

Amendment (Scotland) Act 2013, Paul Wheelhouse MSP,

Minister for Environment and Climate Change with

responsibility for crofting, recognised that a number of

issues had been raised which were outwith the scope 

of the Bill. He gave an undertaking that his officials 

(both Scottish Government and Crofting Commission)

would investigate in consultation with stakeholders, what

the best method might be for dealing with these 

outstanding issues.

A “Crofting Law Sump” was set up in October 2013 to

assist the Government in this process.The Sump is 

administered by Derek Flyn (retired crofting lawyer) and

Keith Graham (formerly Principal Clerk of the Scottish

Land Court).They have been collating the issues and

problems that are causing difficulties, prioritising them and

indicating how the problems can be resolved.

To support this initiative, the Crofting Commission itself

identified and forwarded over 60 potential issues to the

Sump administrators for consideration, relating to crofting

legislation.

The Sump administrators report will be made available to

the Scottish Government on completion.

APPEALS TO THE SCOTTISH LAND COURT (SLC) 2013 - 2014

Appeals where the Commission decision was upheld by the SLC

Appeals dismissed

Appeals abandoned

Appeals withdrawn

Appeals where the Commission decision was quashed or set aside

2

1

1

1

4
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CASE STUDY 

Robert Jamieson, from Cullivoe,Yell in Shetland applied to

the Commission to create a new croft.The new croft was

to be made up of 2 non-croft subjects, both of which hold

grazing rights in the North Yell common grazing.The 

reason Mr Jamieson wanted to create a new croft was to

enable him to let the tenancy to his 26 year old son, Lee,

who has a very keen interest in crofting.

Both units have only been partially used over the years

and the fences and drains are in need of some attention.

There are also two old buildings on the units. Lee intends

to renovate the old buildings so they can be used as 

lambing sheds, repair the fences and clean out the drains.

He already has hens and ducks and sells the eggs locally

which he will continue to do, and proposes to breed

sheep and eventually introduce cattle and grow his own

fruit and vegetables.

Lee already plays a major role in the community, being a

member of the Cullivoe Primary School Eco-Committee.

He was instrumental in getting funding for a polytunnel 

for the School where members of the Committee,

including Lee, show children how to grow vegetables

which they use to make soup, cakes, jam and chutneys 

for Coffee Mornings. Lee is also on the Cullivoe Hall 

and Cullivoe Up-Helly-Aa Committees and plays football

for the local team.

Approval of these applications has allowed a young man,

who is strongly involved in community activities, obtain a

croft in his own right and a base to secure his future on

the island, contributing to both the local economy and

population retention in a remote part of Shetland.

Lee Jamieson: “I am delighted to eventually become tenant

of this new croft. It has taken a while but has been worth

it. I am currently in the process of applying for grants 

so as to fence in some of the ground and roof the old 

out houses.”

Robert Jamieson: “I'm glad to have made Lee tenant of the

croft. I am sure he will do well with this and wish him

every success.The staff at the SGRPID office in Lerwick

have been very helpful with the whole process.”

Creating a new croft
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REGISTER OF CROFTS (ROC)

The Commission continues to maintain its own Register

of Crofts, which contains data on the croft and crofter

and is separate from the Crofting Register maintained

by Registers of Scotland (RoS). In 2013 - 14 we 

identified a series of improvements needed to the

Register of Crofts held by the Commission aimed at

both ensuring it is fit for purpose given the changes

introduced by the Crofting Reform (Scotland) Act

2010, and improving the quality of the data held in the

Register of Crofts. During the year and into 2014-15

focussed improvement work began in two main areas:

• Design and build of a new database system

• Work to resolve legacy issues regarding the 

status of owner-occupier crofters.

Both of these will be completed during the 

coming year.

The final phase of work will be to launch a publicly 

available online version of the Register of Crofts,

allowing direct access to the public information held,

making it possible for anyone requiring information to

view it instantaneously, thereby providing a more 

efficient service.

Assignation

In August last year Donald A Campbell applied to

assign his croft at 467 South Lochboisdale to his

son, Donald. Having been born and brought up on

the croft, Donald Jnr has been involved in all

aspects of crofting from a very young age, helping

out in township activities, gathering, dipping,

clipping and helping his father on the croft.

Donald currently works as a mechanic.

Donald Snr, said “there are too many young folk 

leaving the islands and if giving the croft to Donald

will help stop the decline then I feel I’ve done 

something to help retain the population.”

Donald Jnr, said “I’ve been involved in crofting all

my life and it’s great to have a croft of my own.

I can now get on with fencing and getting some

more stock, as well as growing winter feed. I’m

sure Dad will be keeping an eye on me but his

knowledge of the land will be invaluable.”

CASE STUDY



DEMOGRAPHIC INFORMATION
(Information obtained from the Commission’s Register of Crofts)

DEMOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

The average age of a crofter is 57 years

50.00%

45.00%

40.00%

35.00%

30.00%

25.00%

20.00%

15.00%

10.00%

5.00%

0.00%

0 - 20 
Years

21 - 40 
Years

41 - 60 
Years

61 - 80 
Years

81+ 
Years

70.00%

60.00%

50.00%

40.00%

30.00%

20.00%

10.00%

0.00%

0 - 20 
Years

21 - 40 
Years

41 - 60 
Years

61 - 80 
Years

81+ 
Years

AGE OF CROFTERS AGE OF CROFTERS

2012 - 2013 2013 - 2014

GENDER

Male Female Unknown Male Female Unknown

2012 - 2013 2013 - 2014

10-11



STATISTICS ON REGULATORY APPLICATIONS - BY LOCAL AUTHORITY AREA

TOTALS FOR ALL AREAS

Application Type

Apportionment

Assignation

Bequests

Consent to be Absent

Decrofting - house site

Decrofting part croft

Decrofting whole croft

Division

Letting

New Crofts

Short Lease

Subletting

Transfer by Executor

TOTAL

Purchase of croft land

Tenants

*Owners

Crofting Commission’s Register of Crofts 

No of tenanted crofts

*No of owned crofts 

Total no of registered crofts

13779

5170

18949

*includes owner-occupied crofts and vacant crofts

*includes owner-occupied crofts and vacant crofts

Hearings

There was one Hearing held during the year.

No Received

64

311

101

6

179

266

36

64

60

12

9

49

78

1235

House sites

3

-

No Approved

34

256

85

5

136

213

12

33

51

13

6

46

54

944

Part croft

19

34

Of which were 

absentee

-

-

-

1

-

-

-

-

1

-

-

-

-

2

No Refused

8

7

-

-

-

9

6

8

1

-

2

-

-

41

Whole croft

19

34

Of which

were absentee

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1

-

-

1

The figure for registered crofts has increased substantially from last year.The principal reason for this is the Scottish Land

Court determined that following the purchase of croft land, any associated common grazings shares, which remain tenanted,

are deemed to be crofts in their own right and as such are to be recorded as a separate legal entity in our Register of Crofts.

Please note the number of applications received will differ from the number of decisions taken within the year for a variety of 

reasons, including withdrawn and invalid applications. Applications may also be received at the end of one year, with the decision

in the next year.



Local Authority Area - Moray

There are no crofts, as yet in Moray and therefore no applications have been received.

Local Authority Area - North Ayrshire

No applications were received from North Ayrshire

Local Authority Area - Argyll & Bute

Application Type

Apportionment

Assignation

Bequests

Consent to be Absent

Decrofting - house site

Decrofting part croft

Decrofting whole croft

Division

Letting

New Crofts

Short Lease

Subletting

Transfer by Executor

TOTAL

Purchase of croft land

Tenants

*Owners

No Received

-

10

-

-

8

14

1

1

9

2

-

-

-

45

House sites

-

-

No Approved

1

7

-

-

5

8

-

-

9

2

-

-

-

32

Part croft

3

2

*includes owner-occupied crofts and vacant crofts

No Refused

2

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2

Whole croft

7

-

Crofting Commission’s Register of Crofts 

No of tenanted crofts

*No of owned crofts 

Total no of registered crofts

368

321

689

*includes owner-occupied crofts and vacant crofts

Of which were 

absentee

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

0

Of which

were absentee

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

0
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STATISTICS ON REGULATORY APPLICATIONS ...CONT

Local Authority Area - Highland

Application Type

Apportionment

Assignation

Bequests

Consent to be Absent

Decrofting - house site

Decrofting part croft

Decrofting whole croft

Division

Letting

New Crofts

Short Lease

Subletting

Transfer by Executor

TOTAL

Purchase of croft land

Tenants

*Owners

Crofting Commission’s Register of Crofts 

No of tenanted crofts

*No of owned crofts 

Total no of registered crofts

5433

3289

8722

No Received

24

122

47

2

87

123

21

43

29

4

3

17

39

561

House sites

2

-

No Approved

16

103

34

1

55

88

8

22

23

4

4

13

20

391

Part croft

10

22

No Refused

4

4

-

-

-

4

5

8

1

-

2

-

-

28

Whole croft

65

53

*includes owner-occupied crofts and vacant crofts

*includes owner-occupied crofts and vacant crofts

Of which were 

absentee

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

0

Of which

were absentee

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1

-

-

1



Local Authority Area - Orkney

Application Type

Apportionment

Assignation

Bequests

Consent to be Absent

Decrofting - house site

Decrofting part croft

Decrofting whole croft

Division

Letting

New Crofts

Short Lease

Subletting

Transfer by Executor

TOTAL

Purchase of croft land

Tenants

*Owners

Crofting Commission’s Register of Crofts 

No of tenanted crofts

*No of owned crofts 

Total no of registered crofts

72

382

454

No Received

-

1

-

-

3

5

1

1

1

-

-

-

2

14

House sites

-

-

No Approved

-

-

1

5

1

-

1

-

-

-

2

10

Part croft

1

3

No Refused

-

-

-

-

-

-

1

-

-

-

-

-

-

1

Whole croft

-

1

*includes owner-occupied crofts and vacant crofts

*includes owner-occupied crofts and vacant crofts

Of which were 

absentee

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

0

Of which

were absentee

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

0
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STATISTICS ON REGULATORY APPLICATIONS ...CONT

Local Authority Area - Shetland

Application Type

Apportionment

Assignation

Bequests

Consent to be Absent

Decrofting - house site

Decrofting part croft

Decrofting whole croft

Division

Letting

New Crofts

Short Lease

Subletting

Transfer by Executor

TOTAL

Purchase of croft land

Tenants

*Owners

Crofting Commission’s Register of Crofts 

No of tenanted crofts

*No of owned crofts 

Total no of registered crofts

1955

993

2948

No of Hearings - 1

No Received

11

38

6

-

15

51

12

6

16

3

4

3

5

170

House sites

-

-

No Approved

2

26

6

-

13

41

1

4

11

4

-

5

6

119

Part croft

2

5

No Refused

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

0

Whole croft

20

15

*includes owner-occupied crofts and vacant crofts

*includes owner-occupied crofts and vacant crofts

Of which were 

absentee

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

0

Of which

were absentee

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

0



Local Authority Area - Comhairle nan Eilean Siar

Application Type

Apportionment

Assignation

Bequests

Consent to be Absent

Decrofting - house site

Decrofting part croft

Decrofting whole croft

Division

Letting

New Crofts

Short Lease

Subletting

Transfer by Executor

TOTAL

Purchase of croft land

Tenants

*Owners

Crofting Commission’s Register of Crofts 

No of tenanted crofts

*No of owned crofts 

Total no of registered crofts

5951

185

6136

No Received

29

140

48

4

66

73

1

13

5

3

2

29

32

445

House sites

1

-

No Approved

15

120

45

4

62

71

2

7

7

3

2

28

26

392

Part croft

3

2

No Refused

2

3

-

-

-

5

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

10

Whole croft

5

4

Local Authority Area

Moray

North Ayrshire

Argyll & Bute

Highland

Orkney

Shetland

Comhairle nan Eilean Siar

TOTAL

No of New Crofts

-

-

2

4

-

3

3

12

Total Hectarage (ha)

-

-

27.245

36.19

-

33.48

3.435

100.35 (ha)

NEW CROFTS CREATED UNDER SECTION 3(a) 
OF THE CROFTERS (SCOTLAND) ACT 1993

*includes owner-occupied crofts and vacant crofts

*includes owner-occupied crofts and vacant crofts

Of which were 

absentee

-

-

-

1

-

-

-

-

1

-

-

-

-

2

Of which

were absentee

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

0
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TRENDS IN APPLICATIONS RECEIVED

The charts below are all based on the number of 

applications received. Please note that this will differ from

the number of decisions taken within each year for a 

variety of reasons, including withdrawn 

applications and invalid applications. No figures are shown

for either North Ayrshire or Moray, as no applications

were received for these areas in the time periods shown.
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COMMON GRAZINGS BY LOCAL AUTHORITY AREA

In 2013-14 there were a total of 531 Grazing Committees in office, compared with 528 for 2012-13.

There are no registered common grazings in Moray or North Ayrshire.
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Total No.
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Committees 
in office

Total for all local Authority areas
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Other
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common
grazings

Total No.
of common

grazings

Committees 
in office

Committees
out of office

Other
recorded
common
grazings

70
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30
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10

0

Argyll and Bute

Grazing Constable appointments 2

Grazing Committee appointments 22

Grazing Committee elections 120

Grazing Constable appointments 0

Grazing Committee appointments 0

Grazing Committee elections 5

COMMON GRAZING REGISTRATION

The Scottish Government has provided funding for this

project and the aim is to register as many of the 1000

plus Common Grazings as possible.The project is being

run in partnership with the Crofting Commission, RoS 

and the Scottish Government.

In 2013/14 the Crofting Commission issued 122 

registration application packs to grazing committees, and

owners of common grazings.These application packs

include a boundary map of the common grazings, a list of

shareholders with a share in the grazings and details of

resumptions.This engagement exercise is the only 

opportunity grazing committees and owners will have to

report on the boundary of their grazings so it is vital this

is done within the timescale set out by the Commission.

Only in exceptional circumstances will changes to the

boundary of a common grazing be amended after 

the deadline for responses has passed and the grazings

have been registered.

Land Held Runrig will be registered separately. However,

the Crofting Commission records do not always show

runrig land. Therefore we have requested that if landlords

or grazings clerks are aware of runrig land on their 

common grazings, they make the Commission aware 

of this.

In January 2014, the Commission wrote to all grazings

clerks where the grazings had a committee in office and

asked if they wished to be included in the next phase of

engagement to get the grazings registered.

As well as recording the details of inbye croft land, the Crofting Register 

maintained by the Keeper of the Registers of Scotland (RoS) will also record

the details of Common Grazings Land and Land Held Runrig. Registration of

common land on the Crofting Register will hold a legally recognised boundary

and list of shareholders.
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COMMON GRAZINGS BY LOCAL AUTHORITY AREA...CONT
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Total No.
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Other
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10

8

6

4

2

0

Orkney

Grazing Constable appointments 2

Grazing Committee appointments 13

Grazing Committee elections 66

Grazing Constable appointments 0

Grazing Committee appointments 0

Grazing Committee elections 0

180

160

140

120

100

80

60

40

20

0

Total No.
of common

grazings

Committees 
in office

Shetland

Committees
out of office

Other
recorded
common
grazings

Total No.
of common

grazings

Committees 
in office

Committees
out of office

Other
recorded
common
grazings

350

300

250

200

150

100

50

0

Comhairle nan Eilean Siar

Grazing Constable appointments 0

Grazing Committee appointments 2

Grazing Committee elections 11

Grazing Constable appointments 0

Grazing Committee appointments 7

Grazing Committee elections 38



DUTY TO BE RESIDENT

The Crofting Commission inherited a legacy of initiated long term absentee

cases which it has continued to administer by using the previous Section 22 of

the Crofting Act.This Section was specifically for absentee crofters. Savings 

provisions allowed the Commission to continue cases under this Section and

not have to restart them at the beginning of the new crofters' duties legislation.

The above table indicates the outcome of the cases that

the Commission has concluded to date as far as 

it is possible within the Section 22 process.This 

illustrates that of these concluded cases there are now

320 crofts that have a resident crofter which did not do

so at the outset. Over half of these are because the 

former absentee has now taken up residence.The 

remainder come from the croft changing hands in some

manner, generally by assignation, and in 58% of cases the

croft was transferred to a new entrant to crofting.

The table also indicates that some cases have been 

concluded in the Section 22 process by being transferred

into the new duties process.This primarily occurs where

tenants have purchased their crofts and have become

owner-occupier crofters. As the Crofting Census comes

into effect the Commission anticipates that there will be

increased use of the duties legislation. On this basis,

wherever possible, the Commission will deal with all cases

under this legislation and no longer use the savings 

provisions for continuing legacy cases. By doing so the

Commission intends to avoid any confusion and to ensure

that all individuals have the same opportunity to rectify

any breaches of crofters' duties.

*Indicates that the resultant vacant tenancy has been filled through succession in the case of a deceased crofter or

through re-let of the tenancy.

Activity concluding Section 22 process

Crofter now resident

Croft tenancy assigned

Crofter deceased

Croft tenancy renounced

Croft purchased & now resident

Croft purchased and let

Croft purchased & absent - transferred to
new duty process

Tenant transferred to duty process

Tenancy terminated

TOTALS

Cases 
Concluded

167

151

26

10

5

4

62

10

41

476

Croft with 
resident

167

115

8*

4*

5

4

-

-

17*

320

New 
Entrant

-

72

5

2

-

1

-

-

9

89
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Renewables

In October last year Murdo Fraser, Ault à Chruinn, by Kyle

of Lochalsh applied to the Commission to apportion a

small area of the Invershiel common grazings.The reason

for the application was to erect a Micro Hydro Turbine

house to supply power to Murdo’s home from the burn

on the outskirts of his garden.

As the Micro Turbine will be located close to the march

between Morvich common grazings and Invershiel 

common grazings, Murdo obtained letters of consent 

from both grazings committees. He also had the full 

agreement of the Assessor and the Landlords.

This application demonstrates how obtaining local 

agreement before submitting an application to the

Commission helps to expedite the application process 

and maintain good community relations, where people

take responsibility for their own actions and how they

affect others.

Murdo is now in the process of finalising a legal agreement

from the landlord to utilise the old weir and organising

dates with the contractors to start work on the project

sometime in August.

Murdo Fraser by the old weir

CASE STUDY



ASSESSOR’S NETWORK

Nine meetings were held in total.The agenda for the

meetings followed a standardised programme of topics,

including a presentation by Registers of Scotland (RoS) on

the new Crofting Register.

The new structure and format of the Assessors’ meetings

achieved a high level of interaction between Commission

staff, Assessors, Grazing Clerks and the other invited 

parties.The involvement of RoS in the meetings was 

of great benefit, with their presentation on the Crofting

Register creating a high level of interest.

The table below details all the meeting locations and the

number of attendees.

A new approach was taken in 2013-14 to the Assessor’s local meetings.

A business session was held at the start of the meetings for Assessors and

SGRPID representatives, with an afternoon session open to grazing 

committees, land agents and local solicitors.

Area

Shetland

Orkney & Caithness

Inverness

Western Isles

Skye

West Ross- shire

East & West Sutherland

Uists & Barra

Argyll and South Inverness

TOTALS

Location

Lerwick

Thurso

Inverness

Stornoway

Portree

Kyle of Lochalsh

Rogart

Benbecula

Oban

Date (2013)

6th June

10th June

21st August

16th September

23rd September

28th October

1st November

11th November

20th November

Assessor 

attendance

7

12

3

9

5

5

8

4

6

59

Other invited 

parties attendance

18

13

32

30

25

20

14

22

14

188
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CONSULTATIONS

• Cairngorm National Park Local Development Plan 

• Inner Moray Firth Alternative Site and Uses  

• Argyll and Bute Council Action Programme.

In addition, we responded to the consultations on:

• SNH Core Areas of Wild Land 

• EU Public consultation on the new Operational 

Programme for INTERREG EUROPE,

and highlighted the issues that are currently affecting 

crofting under the existing support schemes and 

proposed alternatives to address these issues in the 

CAP Reform consultations:

• CAP 2015 Direct Payments consultation

• SRDP 2014-2020 consultation.

Crofting Commission Consultations 

Duty to Report (Common Grazings Census)

The Crofting Reform (Scotland) Act 2010 places 

several new compulsory requirements on crofters, which

the Crofting Commission must implement in its regulatory

role. One of these is the duty placed on grazings 

committees to report to the Commission once every 

five years.

In October 2013 the Commission launched a 

consultation on the draft Duty to Report form which

grazings committees will be required to complete.The 

consultees invited to consider and comment on the 

document were 506 grazings committees, 87 Assessors,

the Scottish Crofting Federation and the National 

Farmers Union of Scotland.The consultation ended in

December 2013.

Approximately 300 consultation packs were requested

and 132 responses received.The majority of the responses

were from grazings committees and one of the results

noted by the Commission was that 53 or 50% of the

grazings committees who responded 

actually completed the draft Duty to Report form with

information about their township, even though they were

not required to do so at that point.

The consultation was a valuable exercise and the

Commission has taken on board some of the very 

useful practical suggestions for improvements to the form.

The information gathered from grazings committees will

help the Commission to work with partners and highlight

crofting issues to Scottish Ministers and the Scottish

Parliament.We will be able to make the case for crofting

much more easily with the evidence provided and show

the threats facing crofting, as well as its value to Scotland

as a whole.The first Common Grazings Census forms,

enabling grazings committees to comply with the Duty 

to Report will be sent out in 2014.

Full details of the consultation results are displayed on 

the Crofting Commission website at 

www.crofting.scotland.gov.uk 

As a Key Agency in the Planning process the Commission responded to three

consultations from the following Local Authorities and a National Park:

Catriona Maclean talking to children engaged in crofting courses, through Crofting Connections



Common Grazing Regulations

In October 2013 the Commission also launched a 

consultation on proposed new Common Grazing

Regulations, to ensure the Regulation template 

document that had been drafted was fit for purpose,

helping committees to manage common grazings.

As well as inviting grazings committees and Assessors to

consider and comment on the draft document, the 

consultation also went out to various other 

organisations including the Scottish Crofting 

Federation, the National Farmers Union of Scotland,

Crofting Law Group, Local Authorities in crofting areas,

Scottish Land & Estates and Scottish Government

Agricultural, Food & Rural Communities Rural Payments

Inspections Division.The consultation ended in 

December 2013.

Approximately 300 packs were issued and 131 responses

received.The responses were  split across 4 groups, as

detailed in the table below.

The design of the consultation response form allowed the

capture of comments in three sections.

• Section 1 - forming and running of a grazing 

committee 

• Section 2 - comments on the regulations and best 

practice methods for grazings committees to 

manage their grazing, and

• Section 3 - general comments and any comments 

relating to the proposed menu scheme of regulations 

allowing a committee to tailor their grazing regulations.

The responses to the consultation have been analysed and

are being taken forward by a working group,

including external stakeholders.

Grazings Committees

Assessors

Individuals

Organisations

106
8
7
10

24-25
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GENERAL ENQUIRIES 

Over the course of the year the Commission 

responded to 3,095 general enquiries relating to 

various functions across the organisation.This 

compares with a figure of 1,937 for 2012-13.

COMPLAINTS

The Commission dealt with 13 formal complaints over the

course of the year.

Our Complaints Handling Procedure is a vital strand in

ensuring continued improvement to our customer service.

In 2013 the Scottish Public Services Ombudsman (SPSO)

issued guidance on a model complaints handling 

procedure which provides a standardised approach to

handling complaints across Scottish Government, including

the Commission.We took on board the SPSO approach

and developed a compliant, comprehensive new 

procedure.This procedure aims to help us 'get it right first

time' and to provide a quick, simple and streamlined

process for resolving complaints early and directly by

capable, well-trained staff.

The new procedure provides two opportunities to resolve

complaints internally:

• Frontline resolution - for issues that are 

straightforward and easily resolved, requiring little 

or no investigation, often by way of immediate 

apology over the phone, and,

• Investigation - for issues that have not been 

resolved at Frontline, or that are more complex.

If the complainant is not satisfied the Commission has

dealt effectively with their complaint they have a right of

appeal to the SPSO.

A pilot of the new system ran from January to March

2014 and details of the Frontline complaints handled over

that period are shown in the table below.The number of

complaints handled by the Commission will be made 

publically available through our website from June 2014,

on a quarterly basis. Full details of our complaints 

procedure can be found on our website 

http://crofting.scotland.gov.uk/complaints.asp 

Total number of Frontline Complaints January to March 2014

Complaints dealt with at Frontline Resolution
Resolved within 5 days
Extension to 5 days

Outcome of Complaint
Upheld & Resolved
Partially Upheld
Not upheld
Upheld & escalated
Average days to resolve complaint

Totals

16
16
0

11
0
5
0
1.64

Percentage %

100%
100%
0%

69%
0%
31%
0%



FREEDOM OF INFORMATION SCOTLAND ACT (FOISA) REQUESTS AND
REQUESTS MADE UNDER THE DATA PROTECTION ACT (DPA)

The table below details the number of requests responded to over the year under FOISA and the DPA.

Gaelic Language Plan (GLP)

The Commission continues its commitment to the Gaelic

language. During the year we reviewed and updated our

Gaelic website to mirror the English side of the website.

The current GLP was monitored and reported on to

Bòrd na Gàidhlig and an in-depth evaluation into its 

implementation was carried out for the Bòrd to ensure

continuing compliance with the undertakings agreed in 

the Plan.The evaluation was positive and overall the 

Bòrd were satisfied, and highlighted several areas of 

good practice.

Scotland's Environmental and Rural Services (SEARS)

The Commission has continued to work with SEARS 

partners, with regular contact on Communications, aimed

at improving services for land managers, including crofters.

*In those cases where information was withheld this mainly related to an exception of personal information which falls 

under Section 38(1)(b) of the Act and is redacted before the information is released.

Number of Requests

Number of FOI's

Number DPA's

Responses

Request closed because clarification not received 

Request withdrawn

Response issued within statutory 20 day timescale

Late response

Information provided in full

Some information was provided, but other 
information was withheld or was not held by 
the authority (partial). *

The information was not held

Totals

54

1

2

1

42

10

38

13

1
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MANAGEMENT COMMENTARY 
Strategic Report

Organisational Background and Governance Status

The Crofting Commission (CC) is a Non-Departmental

Public Body established in April 2012 in accordance with

the terms of the Crofting Reform (Scotland) Act 2010 to

take over the functions of the preceding Crofters

Commission.

Under the Act, the CC is headed by a Board of no fewer

than five and no more than nine Commissioners. Of the

current nine Commissioners, three were appointed by

Scottish Ministers following a public appointments process

and six were elected by registered crofters.The Board is

responsible for strategic direction, oversight and 

governance. Commissioners act as ambassadors for the

CC, promoting policies and values and bringing specialist

knowledge to the Board.

Details of Commissioners, along with the Chief Executive

and Senior Management Team of the Commission, are

provided in the Governance Statement and Remuneration

Report sections of this document.

The current Commissioners' terms of office end on March

2017 and unless otherwise noted in the Governance

Statement commenced in April 2012 for five years.

This Annual Report and Accounts gives a brief account of

our activities in 2013-14.The report will be laid before 

the Scottish Parliament and sent to Scottish Ministers for 

consideration.

In common with other materials produced by the CC, this

Report and Accounts is also published on our website.

As a public body, the CC has a general responsibility to

deliver public value, to operate in accordance with best

value principles and to take account of relevant policy 

priorities of the Scottish Government.

Much of the work of the Commission is closely 

determined and guided by legislation including general

matters - the Board structure, election process, the 5-year 

Plan, the duty to require information from crofters and

grazings committees - as well as the specific detail of

direct crofting regulation.The balance of the Commission's

work is primarily on legislative responsibilities with limited

discretionary areas of work.

Statutory background

Under the Crofters (Scotland) Act 1993, as amended by

the Crofting Reform Etc Act 2007 and as amended by the

Crofting Reform (Scotland) Act 2010, the CC has:

a) The general functions of

(i) Regulating crofting

(ii) Reorganising crofting

(iii) Promoting the interests of crofting

(iv) Keeping under review matters relating to crofting

b) such other functions conferred on them by or under 

this Act or any other enactment.

In exercising their functions the Commission must have 

regard to:

a) the desirability of supporting population retention

(i) in the crofting counties

(ii) in any area for the time being designated… in which 

there are crofts and the impact of changes to the 

overall area of land held in crofting tenure on the 

sustainability of crofting.

Since the implementation of the 2010 Act, the

Commission's principal function has been regulating 

crofting, re-organising crofting, promoting the interests of

crofting and keeping under review matters relating 

to crofting.The Act places a duty on the Commission 

to investigate breaches of duty by tenants and 

owner-occupier crofters. In furtherance of this function,

the Commission can collaborate with partner bodies 

for the social and economic well-being of crofting 

communities.



Aim, vision and values

Our aim is to regulate crofting, to promote occupancy of

crofts, active land use, and shared management by crofters,

as a means of sustaining and enhancing rural communities.

Our Vision: That the CC is recognised as a 

knowledgeable, open, fair, efficient and effective regulator.

We Value:

• Those we serve and each other

• Clear, positive, measurable outcomes

• Supportive team working

• Positive change and continual improvement

• Constant learning

• Impartiality

• Respect for difference and diversity

• Openness and clarity 

The CC also advises Scottish Government on 

crofting issues.

Accounts direction

The 2013-14 Accounts have been prepared in accordance

with a Direction given by the Scottish Ministers in 

pursuance of the Public Finance and Accountability

(Scotland) Act 2000. The Direction is produced as an

appendix to these accounts.

Corporate Objectives and Review of 

Principal Activities for 2013-14

Activities and Outcomes in 2013-14

Section 2C of the Crofting Reform (Scotland) Act 2010

sets out the requirement for the CC to prepare a 5-year

Plan.The aim of the Plan is to establish the key policies of

the Commission and to explain how the Commission 

proposes to exercise it’s functions. The Plan was approved

by Scottish Ministers on 30th June 2013 and is available at 

http://www.crofting.scotland.gov.uk/legislation.asp 

The Plan sets out the aspirations for the contribution

crofting can make to Scotland as a whole and the strategic

policy aims of the organisation.

Following approval of the Policy Plan, a key challenge for

the Commission was to develop a realistic Corporate Plan

for how these policy objectives would be achieved with

limited resources. It starts by demonstrating alignment of

the Policy Plan's key strategic aims with the National

Outcomes in the Government's National Performance

Framework, and sets out eight priorities providing detail 

of what we shall do, and how we shall do it, over the

three financial years from 2014-17. The Corporate Plan

was approved by the Board of Commissioners on 26th

March 2014 and will be available on 

http://www.crofting.scotland.gov.uk.

During the reporting year, the Commission decided on

985 valid regulatory applications. Please refer to the 

preceding annual report section of this document for

more detailed information.

Duties Team

New duties legislation came into effect in October 2011,

under the Crofting Reform (Scotland) 2010 Act.

To date, following a Ministerial Direction in 2010, the focus

of the Commission's efforts have been on resolving 

long-standing cases of absenteeism from the croft. As a

result, the Commission has now concluded approaching

500 cases. Further details of the work of the Duties Team

can be found in the preceding annual report section of

this document.
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Croft and grazings registration

Under the 2010 Act, registration on the new map-based

Crofting Register maintained by Registers of Scotland

became compulsory for crofters submitting certain types

of regulatory applications to the Commission.The

Commission is responsible for processing Crofting Register

applications to the point of registration with Registers 

of Scotland.

The Commission also has additional funding for a project

to map common grazings boundaries for entry on the

Crofting Register.

This significant additional area of work resulted in the

addition to the Crofting Register of 91 crofts and 50 

common grazings during 2013-14.

Assessors

Under crofting legislation, the Commission may appoint a

panel of Assessors.Their role is to assist the Commission

in the local delivery of its functions. In October 2012, the

Commission was delighted to confirm the appointment 

of a new panel of volunteer local Assessors.There are 

currently 89 Assessors covering almost 100 crofting

parishes. Further details can be found in the preceding

annual report section of this document.

Expenditure for the year and other financial matters

A summary comparison of expenditure with budget on

both a resource and cash basis as described below is

shown in notes 4 and 5 to the accounts.

Of the Commission's non-salary costs of £655,000 in

2013-14 - see note 3 to the accounts - most of these 

are relatively fixed from year to year and there is limited

option for discretionary spending

The main financial challenge for the CC is to ensure best

use of its main resource in the form of skilled and 

experienced staff. Pending development and approval 

of the Corporate Plan and agreement on an appropriate

staffing structure, a number of permanent staff posts 

were unfilled resulting in an underspend on salaries 

compared to budget.

Over and above this a number of other activities were

reviewed or carried out in more cost effective ways. In

particular, the current main IT system used to hold all key

crofting data and process regulatory applications which

was first implemented in April 2006 was due to be

replaced. A budget had been allocated for this work.

However due to a change in the expertise available 

in-house the development costs of the new system were

reduced.This allowed the Commission, with the approval

of the Scottish Government sponsor branch, to reinvest

this unused resource as capital expenditure to replace

obsolete IT equipment and software to future proof the

organisation and ensure that there was a modern platform

on which to run the new IT system. This has presented

real savings in terms of the requirements of the 

organisation and the new system, once fully implemented,

is also expected to generate future efficiencies.

The resource expenditure for the year ended 31st March

2014 was £2,502,000 as shown in the Statement of

Comprehensive Expenditure, as compared to a budget of

£2,610,000. Capital assets to the value of £163,000 were

acquired during the year as detailed in the Statement of

Financial Position and notes 6 and 7 to the accounts.The

capital expenditure was transferred from the resource

budget with the approval of the Scottish Government

sponsor branch.

Total expenditure for the year, including capital 

expenditure, was £55,000 (2.1%) higher than budget (see

note 4 to the accounts).This included £18,000 additional

depreciation due to the authorised expenditure on capital

assets as noted above.The remaining £37,000 was due to

various factors, most notably legal costs of £34,000 over

budget due to legacy cases from the Crofters

Commission, third party legal costs awarded as referred 

to in note 19 to the accounts and other matters.



Total cash or cash equivalents drawn down during the

year (including salary costs paid direct by the Scottish

Government) were 99.8% of budget - £2,543,000 

compared to a budget of £2,547,000.Total cash or cash

equivalents paid during the year were 99.4% of budget.

The surplus provided working capital to cover creditors

due for payment within 10 days at the year end and other

similar outlays (see notes 4 and 5 to the accounts).

Key Priorities for 2014-15

One key element in developing the Corporate Plan for

2014-17 was agreeing finance & resources with the

Scottish Government. Detailed discussion of this took

place in the Senior Management Team, Commissioner

meetings and jointly to develop a business case for 

submission to the Scottish Government. Another key 

element of the plan is to develop measures of 

performance and impact that are meaningful and easy to 

understand.The Commission's contribution to the 

economic and social development of Scotland is part of a

complex system, with both direct and indirect activity. It is

not a simple matter to link the contribution of a single

activity or objective to an outcome or outcomes and a

major challenge is identifying measures of our contribution.

Development of measures is a key aim for 2014-15. Our

review of activities will be developed in future years to

reflect such measures.

Our priorities are laid out more fully in the Corporate

Plan as explained above as part of a programme of work

to March 2017.They are:

• To improve our evidence base

• To enforce the residency and land use duties 

of crofters

• Increased grazings potential

• To improve the efficiency and effectiveness of 

regulation building participatory support

• Support the registration process

• Governance, staffing and infrastructure

• Increase influence through effective collaboration

• Support legislative reform

The main financial pressures affecting future performance

will be the continuing ability to fund the resources, in 

particular staff, required to carry out both the continuing

tasks of the Commission and the new duties required

under the 2010 Act. Close liaison with the Scottish

Government on the implications of this is ongoing and will

be maintained during the coming year.

Environmental Matters

The CC is committed to meeting its environmental

responsibilities as a public body.We adhere to 

environmental requirements in areas such as procurement,

business travel and buildings management.

The Commission's work is largely carried out from a 

single office, shared with SNH and other public agencies.

Input in various parts of the crofting areas is provided by

the local offices of our RPID partners. In addition,

Commissioners are provided with equipment to enable

homeworking where practical, and staff also have 

homeworking facilities where applicable to their roles.

Currently available data relates to our main office and to

our staff and Commissioner travel activities.
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Great Glen House - energy, water, waste & CO2 performance - CC share

Electricity (kwh)
Gas (kwh)
Solar electricity (kwh)
Biomass
All energy
Water (m3)
Non-recycled waste (litres)
Recycled waste (litres)
Total waste
% recycled

Use
73,298

102,342
3,769

0
179,409

253
29,992
40,633
70,625

58%

CO2
39,887
18,630

0
0

58,517
70

3,899
0

3,899

Cost
11,807
3,864

0
0

-504

Use
74,898
60,067
6,020

20,868
161,853

308
8,303
6,663

14,966
45%

CO2
40,758
11,430

0
522

52,710
85

1,079
0

1,079

Cost
10,029
3,762

4,175

Use
+12%
-41%

+60%
N/A

-10%
+22%
-72%
-84%
-79%
-13%

2012-132013-14% change

Travel

Comparable figures for mileage and CO2 emissions are

not available for the years in question. Policy is to use 

public transport wherever possible, but our geographical 

area of operations can limit such options. Currently 

available data relates to our main office and to our staff

and Commissioner travel activities.

Social, community and human rights issues

The Commission is specifically charged by the 2010 Act with:

• supporting population retention

• having regard to sustainability of crofting 

• collaboration with partner bodies for the social and economic well-being of crofting communities.

Further details of the work of the Commission in these areas can be found in the preceding annual report section 

of this document.

Costs
Air
Rail
Car hire
Taxi
Mileage payments (own car)

TOTAL

2012-13
21,860
4,139
3,148
5,131

15,855

50,133

2013-14
13,882
5,475
2,645
3,947

11,649

37,598



Gender balance as at 31st March 2014

Note: The figures below are total numbers of people, not full time equivalents.

CATRIONA MACLEAN

Chief Executive and Accountable Officer

Date: 6th August 2014

Commissioners (permanent)
Commissioners (co-opted)
Chief Executive
Senior Management Team 
Other staff

TOTAL

Male
5
2
0
4

12

23

Female
3
0
1
2

30

36
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Days sickness absence 2013-14 2012-13
Short term 207.6 236.5
Long term 255.6 156.5
Total 463.2 392.9
Average per member of staff 11.0 8.9
Percentage of available days 4.9% 3.9%

MANAGEMENT COMMENTARY 
Directors’ Report 

The Status of, and Provision of,

Information to Employees

All current CC staff are provided by the Scottish

Government. CC staff have the same terms and 

conditions as staff within the Scottish Government, and

have access to the civil service pension arrangements.The

CC's HR and payroll functions for staff are carried out by

the Scottish Government Human Resource Division on a

shared service basis.

All staff have access to the Scottish Government intranet

which provides access to all Scottish Government HR

policies and documents, training & development 

opportunities, internal job vacancies and other relevant

policies such as Counter-Fraud and Whistleblowing 

policies.

All staff have access to the CC's intranet which contains 

a range of news, general information and the 'staff 

handbook' section which includes details of the 

organisation, workplace, staff development options,

regulatory policies and a copy of the current induction

pack for new staff.

Each staff member has two formal performance review

meetings each year, during the course of which any 

learning or development needs are identified.

Pensions

CC staff members are eligible to be members of the

Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme. Details of the

scheme and details of the pension entitlements of CC's

senior managers are given in the Remuneration Report

and note 1.5 to these accounts.

Commissioners' interests

A public Register of Interests is maintained for

Commissioners, as required by the Ethical Standards in

Public Life (Scotland) Act 2000. It is available on the

Commission's website at

http://www.crofting.scotland.gov.uk/Commissioners.asp.

Auditor

The Auditor General for Scotland has appointed Audit

Scotland as auditor. Details of the audit fee for the year to

31st March 2014 are disclosed in note 3 to the accounts.

Audit Scotland were not engaged or paid for any 

non-audit work during the year.

Sickness Absence

The following information is provided for the years ending

31st March.

Personal Data Security

There were no known incidents of personal data breaches

in 2013-14 (nil 2012-13).

Equal Opportunities and Diversity Policies

The CC adopts the Scottish Government policies on

equal opportunities and diversity. The policy on equal

opportunity states that all staff should be treated equally

irrespective of their sex, marital status, age, race, ethnic 

origin, sexual orientation, disability, religion or belief,

working pattern, employment status, gender identity, caring

responsibility or trade union membership. In line with

Scottish Government policy, the CC is specifically required

to increase the diversity of staff within the organisation.

The CC undertakes to develop all staff and positively 

values the different perspectives and skills each brings to

our work. The CC is committed to delivering its functions

in a manner that encourages equal opportunities, aims to

eliminate unlawful discrimination and other conduct 

prohibited by equality legislation.



Gifts and charitable donations

There were no gifts or charitable donations during 

the year.

Freedom of Information requests

The Commission received 54 requests quoting the

Freedom of Information Act during the year. Further 

information regarding formal complaints, appeals and 

general enquiries can be found in the preceding annual

report section of this document.

Losses and write-offs

There were no losses or write-offs during the year.

Payment Practice Code

In line with Scottish Government policy, the CC requires

that all suppliers' invoices not in dispute are paid within 10

days of receipt. The CC aims to pay 100% of invoices,

including disputed invoices once the dispute has been 

settled, on time in these terms. During the year ended 31

March 2014, the CC paid 97.5% of its invoices within

these terms (95.7% in 2012-13).

Provision of Relevant Information

So far as the Accountable Officer is aware, there is no 

relevant audit information of which the entity's auditors

are unaware and the Accountable Officer has taken all the

steps that she ought to have taken to make herself aware

of any relevant audit information and to establish that the

CC's auditors are aware of that information.

Date authorised for issue

These accounts were authorised for issue on 

6th August 2014

CATRIONA MACLEAN

Chief Executive and Accountable Officer

Date: 6th August 2014
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STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER'S RESPONSIBILITIES

In accordance with section 19(4) of the Public Finance and

Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 and Schedule 1 

paragraph 19 of the Crofters (Scotland) Act 1993 as

amended, Scottish Ministers have directed the Crofting

Commission (CC) to prepare a statement of accounts for

each financial year in the form and on the basis set out in

the Accounts Direction issued by the Scottish Ministers.

The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must

give a true and fair view of the CC's state of affairs at the

period end and of its operating costs, recognised gains and

losses and cash flows for the financial period.

In preparing the accounts, the Accountable Officer is

required to:

• observe the Accounts Direction issued by Scottish 

Ministers including the relevant accounting and 

disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting 

policies on a consistent basis;

• make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;

• state whether applicable accounting standards as set 

out in the Government Financial Reporting Manual 

have been followed, and disclose and explain any 

material departures in the accounts; and

• prepare the accounts on a going concern basis.

The Permanent Secretary of the Scottish Administration

has appointed the Chief Executive as the Accountable

Officer for the CC.

As Accountable Officer, I am responsible for the regularity

and propriety of the public finances for which I am

answerable, for keeping proper records and for 

safeguarding the CC's assets, as set out in the Accountable

Officer's Memorandum issued by Scottish Ministers.

CATRIONA MACLEAN

Chief Executive and Accountable Officer

Date: 6th August 2014



GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

Scope of responsibility

As Accountable Officer of the Crofting Commission (CC),

I am responsible for maintaining a sound governance

framework and system of internal control that supports

the achievement of the CC's policies, aims and objectives,

while safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I

am personally responsible, in accordance with the 

responsibilities assigned to me.

As Accountable Officer, under section 15 of the Public

Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000, I am

responsible for :

a) signing the accounts of the CC

b) ensuring the propriety and regularity of its finances

c) ensuring that its resources are used economically,

efficiently and effectively.

The 'Scottish Public Finance Manual' (SPFM) is issued by

Scottish Ministers to provide guidance to the Scottish

Government and other relevant bodies on the proper

handling and reporting of public funds. It sets out the 

relevant requirements and promotes good practice and

high standards of propriety. As Accountable Officer I am

responsible for ensuring compliance with SPFM guidance.

Purpose of the Governance Framework and system of

internal controls

The CC's governance framework accords with the 

guidance from the Scottish Government provided in the

SPFM and 'On Board: A Guide for Board Members of

Public Bodies in Scotland' and operates under the 

provisions of the Crofters (Scotland) Act 1993 as 

amended by the Crofting Reform Etc Act 2007 and 

the Crofting Reform (Scotland) Act 2010.

Under the Crofting Reform (Scotland) Act 2010, the CC

was established on 1st April 2012 to take over the 

functions of the preceding Crofters Commission. As a 

differently constituted body with full NDPB status, the CC

developed new and revised governance and internal 

control arrangements during 2012/13. In 2013-14, it has

built on that foundation.

The framework and systems we have developed are

designed to manage risk to a reasonable level. It cannot

eliminate all risk, and can therefore only provide 

reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness.

Governance Framework

Our Board

Our full Board is made up of nine Commissioners. Under

the Crofting Reform (Scotland) Act 2010, three were

appointed by Scottish Ministers and six were elected by

registered crofters. The process was in accordance with

the requirements of the Office of the Commissioner for

Public Appointments Scotland. Under the Act, the title of

the Chair of the Board is Convener. Each Board Member

is subject to an annual appraisal by the Convener.

Members participate in a variety of training sessions

including an introductory 'On Board' seminar. The

Convener is also subject to annual appraisal by the

Scottish Government Directorate for Agriculture, Food

and Rural Communities.

During the year two Commissioners resigned. One 

elected member, Donald Ross, was replaced by Marina

Dennis who was second in their constituency election to

Mr Ross. In June 2014, following an advertising and

appointment process, Mr Cross was replaced by Mr 

David Campbell.
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Board Members during 2013-14

Commissioners are responsible for providing strategic

direction, oversight and governance and for monitoring

expenditure and operations in accordance with Scottish

Government and Ministerial directions.The full Board met

seven times in the year to fulfil this role.

The Chief Executive and Senior Management Team 

normally attend Board meetings with other staff present

when deemed appropriate.

The Vice Convener role was devised and elected by the

Board to provide support to the Convener.

In addition, Commissioners have responsibility under 

crofting legislation to make decisions on regulatory cases

before the Commission with powers of delegation to 

officers.The current scheme of delegation, along with the

standing orders for the conduct of meetings, can be found

at www.crofting.scotland.gov.uk/instrument-of-

delegation.asp. They met collectively and in sub-groups on

various occasions throughout the year to fulfil this role.

Susan Walker

Colin Kennedy

Arnie Pirie

Donald Ross

Iain George Macdonald

Kathleen Sinclair

Marina Dennis

Murdo MacLennan

Sandy Cross

William Swann

Convener

Vice Convener

Appointed

Elected

Elected

Elected

Elected

Elected

Appointed

Elected

Appointed

Appointed

Resigned 30 Oct 2013

From 1 Dec 2013

Resigned 31 Jan 2014
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In accordance with Schedule 1 paragraph 12 of the

Crofting Reform Act, the Commission appointed Derek

Flyn and Keith Graham to specific committees/working

groups of the Commission. However they do not carry

out the full function of Commissioners or normally attend

Board meetings and do not have the related 

non-executive and executive duties and responsibilities.

Audit & Finance Committee

Three members of the Board are appointed by the

Commission to serve on the Audit & Finance Committee.

Under its terms of reference it meets four times a year

with additional meetings if required. During 2013-14, the

committee met five times.

The 2010 Act requirement for the Convener to chair the

Committee “if present” at its meetings is in contravention

of good practice guidance issued by the Scottish

Government in the Scottish Public Finance Manual, the

Audit Committee Handbook and On Board. In order to

comply with both the 2010 Act and best practice 

guidance, the Commission has appointed a Vice Chair of

the Committee and the Convener does not normally

attend meetings of the Committee.The Commission's

Scottish Government sponsor branch has confirmed its

approval of this arrangement.

Audit & Finance Committee Members

The Chief Executive and Head of Finance normally attend

meetings. The Committee is also supported by 

Scott-Moncrieff, the Commission's current Internal

Auditor. Audit Scotland are also invited to and attend all

meetings of the full Committee. Once approved, minutes

of each meeting are reported to the subsequent 

Board meeting along with an oral update from the 

meeting Chair.

The primary role of the Committee is to provide 

independent assurance of the adequacy of the risk 

management framework and the associated control 

environment, in accordance with Best Value principles, to

the Board and Accountable Officer.

Minutes of meetings, brief biographies of Commissioners

and the Commissioners' register of interests are available

on our website at www.crofting.scotland.gov.uk.

Chief Executive

At the beginning of 2013-14, following retirement of the

previous Chief Executive in December 2012, David

Balharry, the Commission's Head of Crofting Services, was

in place as Acting Chief Executive. Catriona Maclean was

appointed as permanent Chief Executive in May 2013.

The Chief Executive is a Scottish Government employee.

Susan Walker

Sandy Cross

William Swann

Kathleen Sinclair

Murdo MacLennan

Chair

Vice Chair to 31st Jan 2014

Member to 31st Jan 2014

Vice Chair from 1st Feb 2014

Member

Member from 1st Feb 2014



Senior Management Team

The Commission's management structure is headed by the Senior Management Team who are responsible for 

day-to-day operations.

The Team were also assisted by Ian Bryce, Business Manager on a part time and temporary basis from June 2013.

Staff

Commissioners are supported by the work of 50 full time

equivalent staff including temporary staff. Details of staff

numbers are given in note 2 to these financial statements.

All permanent staff are Scottish Government employees

seconded to the Commission.

Risk and Control Framework

All bodies subject to the requirements of the SPFM must

operate a risk management strategy in accordance with

the guidance issued by Scottish Ministers and these 

principles have been adopted by the CC.

Under the Crofting Reform (Scotland) Act 2010, the

Commission is required to prepare a five year Plan setting

out their policy on how they propose to exercise their

functions.This Plan was approved by Scottish Ministers on

30th June 2013. A key task for the 2013-14 financial year

has been the production of a Corporate Plan for how the

Commission intend to carry out those policies and to

identify key outcomes and objectives, priorities for action

and the resources required to achieve them.

Prior to agreeing the Corporate Plan, during 2012-13 the

Commission maintained a detailed Risk Register based on

known areas of concern. The register was reviewed at

each Board Meeting up to and including May 2013.

The register, however, could not be specifically linked to

corporate objectives before the agreement of a

Corporate Plan.The Corporate Plan was adopted on 26th

March 2014 following which the Commission was in a

position to develop a new risk register directly linked to

key strategic objectives.

The Audit & Finance Committee, with input from Internal

and External Audit, carried out a self-assessment on 2nd

May 2014 with reference to the Scottish Government 'On

Board' and 'Audit Committee Handbook'. ``Minutes of

the meeting, along with the output, were reported to the 

subsequent Board meeting.

A Board self-assessment was carried out on 12th June

2013 using a European Foundation for Quality

Management self-assessment tool.

Catriona Maclean

David Balharry

Donna Smith

Gordon MacDonald

Jane Thomas

John Toal

Joseph Kerr

Chief Executive

Acting Chief Executive

Head of Information Systems

Head of Finance

Head of Communication

Head of Policy & Duties

Head of Regulation

From May 2013

Dec 2012 to May 2013
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Significant matters arising 

While acknowledging the adequacy of the overall 

framework the Audit and Finance Committee 

recommended, in its annual report on its activity to the

Board, a more systematic approach in the following areas:

Financial reports, risk register updates and reports of 

performance against the Commission's Corporate Plan

should be standing items at appropriate Board Meetings.

The Commission should develop performance indicators

derived from the plan and complete the risk register.

It should be noted that the Corporate Plan will require

updating from time to time and in particular to take

account of performance.

Commissioners have varying levels of governance and

financial experience. Further training should be available

for those Commissioners who request it or following

identification of need at appraisal.

Internal Audit findings

In addition to specific assignments, attendance at various

meetings and review of Board and other papers, Internal

Audit reviewed the follow-up actions of the Commission

from previous recommendations.

In their opinion the CC has a framework of controls in

place, in the areas which they have reviewed, that provides

reasonable assurance regarding the effective and efficient

achievement of the organisation's objectives and the 

management of key risks.

Their work during the year has highlighted some areas

where further work is required. Management are taking

action to address these issues and Internal Audit do not

believe that the individual findings necessitate separate 

disclosure in the annual Governance Statement.

Data Information and Handling Review 

The year has seen further improvements in this area with

a new security structure being implemented for access to

Commission IT systems and tighter controls placed on

accessing the systems both remotely and out of hours.

These changes are a result of the review of the

Commission Security Policy Framework, and formal 

documentation of the complete policy reflecting these

changes is due to be produced during 2014-2015.

In June 2014 the Commission submitted their Records

Management Plan under the Public Records (Scotland) Act

2011.Work is therefore well under way in reviewing our

current policies and procedures in this area. It is expected

that a Records Management Improvement Plan will be

identified as part of this work.The work on the Records

Management Plan has already identified several types of

record currently held in storage that are no longer

required to be held by the Commission and arrangements

have been made for the destruction or transfer of these

records as appropriate.

Some Commissioner laptops are now encrypted with the

remainder due to be completed in 2014.

Information Asset Owners were formally identified during

the year and appropriate civil service training has been

undertaken by the individuals in these roles. All staff are

now registered on the Civil Service Learning site and are

therefore able to undertake the general civil service 

training on Information Handling which will be completed

on an annual basis as recommended in April of each year.

There were no reportable lapses in personal data security

during the year.



Review of the Effectiveness of the System 

of Internal Control

As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing

the effectiveness of the governance arrangements 

including the system of internal control.

My review of the effectiveness of the system is informed

by the work of the internal auditors and the CC Senior

Management Team, who meet weekly for most weeks of

the year.The Senior Management Team have responsibility

for the development and maintenance of the internal 

control framework, and for considering and responding 

to comments made by the external auditors in their 

management letter and other reports.The Senior

Management Team also considers Management 

Accounts on a regular basis, to consider expenditure 

and projections.

My review has been informed by letters of assurance from

the Senior Management Team, regarding the effectiveness

of controls in their areas of responsibility, and from SNH

and the Scottish Government who provide shared finance

and HR services respectively to the Commission.

The wider system of internal control is based on ongoing

identification of the principal risks in achieving Commission

policies, aims and objectives; evaluating the nature and

extent of those risks; and deciding how to manage them

effectively, economically and efficiently.

The Commission Board meets at least every two months,

with meetings attended by myself, Senior Management

Team members and other staff as appropriate.

The Commission Audit & Finance Committee, which 

the Head of Finance and I attend, alongside 

representatives from both Internal and External Audit,

meets at least four times a year.

The Audit & Finance Committee has responsibility for

reviewing the Commission's annual financial statements

prior to publication, and for ensuring that risk is properly

identified and mitigated against in the Risk Register. The

Audit & Finance Committee considers the scope of 

internal and external audit plans, receives audit reports

and makes recommendations where appropriate.

The Board then reviews recommendations of the

Committee, with an overall review of risk mitigation on 

an annual basis or more frequently if required.

During my first year of office, and only the second full year

of the new CC, I have implemented a number of 

improvements from the legacy arrangements, including

changing the Commission's management structure and

further developing appropriate policies and procedures. In

particular, the Ministerial approval of the first five year plan

has enabled us to progress with detailed consideration of

the structure and resources necessary to deliver the

Commission's objectives and to agree a Corporate Plan

accordingly.

The Governance and control frameworks are satisfactory.

Greater clarity over strategic goals will now enable us to

develop and refine identified improvements in these

frameworks.

CATRIONA MACLEAN

Chief Executive and Accountable Officer

Date: 6th August 2014
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REMUNERATION REPORT
Remuneration policy

Board Members

The Commission Board is made up of nine

Commissioners. Commissioners' remuneration is

approved by Scottish Ministers and is determined 

according to the "Public Sector Pay Policy for Senior

Appointment" (see www.scotland.gov.uk/publications 

for further detail). Current Board Member appointments

are non-pensionable. Current Board Members 

appointments, unless otherwise stated, are for 5 years

commencing 1st April 2012.

Staff

All staff are Scottish Government employees and are part

of the Scottish Government main collective bargaining unit

for the determination of salary. Remuneration is 

determined by the Scottish Government and, in 

determining policy, account is taken of the need for pay to

be set at a level which will ensure the recruitment,

retention and motivation of staff. Also taken into account

are the Government's policies on the Civil Service and 

public sector pay and the need to observe public 

spending controls.

Service contracts

The Constitutional Reform and Governance Act 2010

requires Civil Service appointments to be made on merit

on the basis of fair and open competition. The

Recruitment principles published by the Civil Service

Commission specify the circumstances when appointments

may be made otherwise.

The officials covered by this report hold appointments

which are open-ended. Early termination, other than for

misconduct, would result in the individual receiving 

compensation as set out in the Civil Service

Compensation Scheme.

Further information about the work of the Civil Service

Commission may be found at 

www.civilservicecommission.org.uk.

Board remuneration

Commissioners were due remuneration in the following bands:

Commissioners in office as at 31st March 2014

Susan Walker (Convener) from 23rd Sep 2012
full-year equivalent salary

Colin Kennedy (Vice Convener)
Iain George MacDonald
Kathleen Sinclair
Murdo MacLennan
William Swann
Marina Dennis from 1st November 2013

full-year equivalent salary

Commissioner on sabbatical leave from 1st January 2014

Arnie Pirie
full-year equivalent salary

Commissioners leaving during the year

Donald Ross to 31st August 2013
full-year equivalent salary

Sandy Cross to 31st January 2014
full year equivalent salary

2013/14
£000s
15-20

0
5-10
5-10
5-10
5-10
5-10
0-5

5-10

5-10
5-10

0-5
5-10
5-10
5-10

2012/13
£000s
10-15
15-20
5-10
5-10
5-10
5-10
5-10

0
Nil

5-10
0

5-10
0

5-10
0



Commissioners' appointments are non-pensionable and

no benefits in kind were paid or payable.

William Swann is a Board member for Highlands & Islands

Enterprise. Murdo MacLennan was a Board member for

Bòrd na Gàidhlig to January 2014. Commissioners have

not undertaken any material transactions with any related

parties in the year apart from their service contracts.

In accordance with Schedule 1 paragraph 12 of the

Crofting Reform Act, the Commission appointed Derek

Flyn and Keith Graham to specific committees/working

groups of the Commission. However they do not carry

out the full function of Commissioners or normally attend

Board meetings and do not have the related 

non-executive and executive duties and responsibilities.

They are therefore not included in the table opposite.

Remuneration of senior officials

The following section provides details of the remuneration and pension interests of the most senior officials of the

Commission:

Chief Executive

Catriona Maclean (from 13th May 2013)

paid in year

full-year equivalent

Nick Reiter 

(to11th Dec 2012)

paid in year

full-year equivalent

Acting Chief Executive

David Balharry (to 13th May 2013)

paid in year

full year equivalent

Senior Management Team

Donna Smith

Gordon MacDonald

Jane Thomas

Joseph Kerr

John Toal

2013-14

£000s

50-55

55-60

0

0

10-15

55-60

40-45

40-45

40-45

35-40

35-40

2012-13

£000s

0

0

45-50

65-70

50-55

55-60

40-45

40-45

40-45

30-35

35-40

2013-14

£000s

80-85 

80-85 

0

0

0

15-20 

0

5-10

5-10

20-25

10-15

2012-13

£000s

0 

0 

5-10

5-10

5-10

15-20

0

5-10

10-15

5-10

10-15

2012-13

£000s

0 

0 

50-55

70-75

55-60

70-75

40-45

45-50

50-55

35-40

45-50

Salary Pension benefits

(see note 1 over page)
Total

2013-14

£000s

135-140 

140-145 

0

0 

0

75-80

40-45

45-50

45-50

55-60

50-55
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Salary includes gross salary, overtime, reserved rights to

London weighting or London allowances, recruitment &

retention allowances, private office allowances and any

other allowances to the extent that it is subject to UK 

taxation.This report is based on accrued payments made

by the Scottish Government (staff) and the Crofting

Commission (CC) (Commissioners) and as recorded in

these accounts.

Bonuses, where available within the constraints of Scottish

Government pay policy, are based on performance and

are made as part of the appraisal process and are not

consolidated. Bonuses are recorded in the year in which

they are paid. Bonuses were not permitted by Scottish

Government pay policy within 2012-13 or 2013-14.

Benefits in kind are the monetary value of any benefits

paid by the Scottish government or the CC and treated

by HM Revenue & Customs as taxable. No benefits in

kind were paid or payable for 2012-13 or 2013-14.

Note 1: the value of pension benefits accrued during the

year is defined as (the real increase in pension multiplied

by 20) plus (the real increase in any lump sum) less (the

contributions made by the individual).The real increases

exclude increases due to inflation or any increase or

decrease due to a transfer of pension rights.

In accordance with HM Treasury's Financial Reporting

Manual, reporting bodies are required to disclose the 

relationship between the remuneration of the highest paid

employee and the median remuneration of the 

organisation's workforce as shown above. Total 

remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated 

performance-related pay and benefits in kind. It does not

include employer pension contributions and the cash

equivalent transfer value of pensions

2013/14

£55-60000

£25,416

2.4

2012/13

£55-60,000

£24,780

2.4

Band of highest paid

Median remuneration

Ratio

Ratio of highest paid employee to median remuneration

Chief Executive

Catriona Maclean

David Balharry

ongoing

preserved

Other senior staff

Gordon MacDonald

Jane Thomas

John Toal

Joseph Kerr

Donna Smith

Accrued pension at

pension age as at

31/03/14 and related

lump sum

£000s

Pension Lump sum

15-20

5-10

0-5

5-10

5-10

5-10

10-15

50-55

20-25

5-10

25-30

0

20-25

30-35

0-5

0-5

(0-5)

0-5

0-5

0-5

0-5

10-15

0-5

(0-5)

0-5

0

0-5

0-5

333

124

51

153

134

142

192

250

121

49

139

118

121

163

66

2

0

4

7

12

18

Pension Lump sum

Real increase in pension

& related lump sum at

pension age

£000s

CETV at 

31/03/14

£000s

CETV at

31/03/13

£000s

Real increase 

in CETV

as funded

by employer

£000s

Pension Benefits

Partnership pension. Employer's contribution for year 5-10

The financial information above is covered by the audit opinion.



Civil Service Pensions

Pension benefits are provided through the Civil Service

pension arrangements. From 30th July 2007, civil servants

may be in one of four defined benefit schemes: either a

final salary scheme (classic, premium or classic plus); or a

whole career scheme (nuvos).These statutory 

arrangements are unfunded with the cost of benefits met

by monies voted by the UK Parliament each year.

Pensions payable under classic, premium, classic plus and

nuvos are increased annually in line with Pension Increase

legislation. Members joining from October 2002 may opt

for either the appropriate defined benefit arrangement or

a "money purchase" stakeholder pension with an employer

contribution (partnership pension account). Employee

contributions are salary-related and range between 1.5%

and 6.25% of pensionable earnings for classic and 3.5%

and 8.25% for premium, classic plus and nuvos. Increases

to employee contributions will apply from 1st April 2014.

Benefits in classic accrue at the rate of 1/80th of final 

pensionable earnings for each year of service.

In addition, a lump sum equivalent to three years initial

pension is payable on retirement. For premium, benefits

accrue at 1/60th of final pensionable earnings for each

year of service. Unlike classic, there is no automatic lump

sum. Classic plus is essentially a hybrid with benefits in

respect of service from October 2002 calculated broadly

as per classic and benefits for service from October 2002

worked out as in premium. In nuvos, a member builds up

a pension based on his or her pensionable earnings during

their period of scheme membership. At the end of the

scheme year (31st March) the member's earned pension

account is credited with 2.3% of their pensionable 

earnings in that scheme year and the accrued pension is

uprated in line with Pension Increase legislation. In all cases

members may opt to give up (commute) pension for

lump sum up to the limits set by the Finance Act 2004.

The partnership pension account is a stakeholder pension

arrangement.The employer makes a basic contribution of

between 3% and 12.5% (depending on the age of the 

member) into a stakeholder pension product chosen by

the employee from a panel of three providers.The

employee does not have to contribute but where they do 

make contributions, the employer will match these up to a 

limit of 3% of pensionable salary (in addition to the 

employer's basic contribution). Employers also contribute

a further 0.8% of pensionable salary to cover the cost of

centrally provided risk benefit cover (death in service and

ill health retirement).

The accrued pension quoted is the pension the member

is entitled to receive when they reach pension age, or

immediately on ceasing to be an active member of the

scheme if they are already at or over pension age.

Pension age is 60 for members of classic, premium and

classic plus and 65 for members of nuvos.

Further details about the Civil Service pension 

arrangements can be found at

www.civilservice.gov.uk/pensions.

Cash Equivalent Transfer Values

Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially

assessed capitalised value of the pension scheme benefits

accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The

benefits valued are the member's accrued benefits and

any contingent spouse's pension payable from the scheme.

A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or

arrangement to secure pension benefits in another 

pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves

a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in

their former scheme.The pension figures shown relate to

the benefits that the individual has accrued as a 

consequence of their total membership of the pension

scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which

disclosure applies.

The figures include the value of any pension benefit in

another scheme or arrangement which the individual has

transferred to the Civil Service pension arrangements.
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They also include any additional pension benefit accrued

to the member as a result of their buying additional 

pension benefits at their own cost. CETVs are worked in

accordance with The Occupational Pension Scheme

(Transfer Values) (Amendment) regulations 2008 and do

not take into account of any actual or potential reduction

to benefits resulting from Lifetime Allowance Tax which

may be due when pension benefits are taken.

Real Increase in CETV

This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the

employer. It does not include the increase in accrued 

pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the 

employee (including the value of any benefits transferred

from another pension scheme or arrangement) and uses

common market valuation factors for the start and end 

of the period.

Compensation for loss of office

Three members of staff left under voluntary or 

compulsory exit schemes in 2013-14 (none in 2012-13).

See note 2 to the accounts for further information.

Note on audited information

Information disclosed in the salary and pension tables

above has been audited by Audit Scotland.The other 

sections of the Remuneration Report were reviewed by

Audit Scotland to ensure that they were consistent with

the financial statements.

CATRIONA MACLEAN

Chief Executive and Accountable Officer

Date: 6th August 2014
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Independent auditor's report to the members of the

Crofting Commission, the Auditor General for Scotland

and the Scottish Parliament 

I have audited the financial statements of the Crofting

Commission for the year ended 31 March 2014 under the

Crofters (Scotland) Act 1993, as amended by the Crofting

Reform (Scotland) Act 2010. The financial statements

comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net

Expenditure, the Statement of Statement of Financial

Position, the Statement of Cash Flow, the Statement of

Changes in Taxpayers' Equity and the related notes.The

financial reporting framework that has been applied in

their preparation is applicable law and International

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the

European Union, and as interpreted and adapted by the

2013/14 Government Financial Reporting Manual ("the

2013/14 FReM").

This report is made solely to the parties to whom it is

addressed in accordance with the Public Finance and

Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 and for no other 

purpose. In accordance with paragraph 125 of the Code

of Audit Practice approved by the Auditor General for

Scotland, I do not undertake to have responsibilities to

members or officers, in their individual capacities, or to

third parties.

Respective responsibilities of Accountable 

Officer and auditor 

As explained more fully in the Statement of the

Accountable Officer's Responsibilities the Accountable

Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial

statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and

fair view, and is also responsible for ensuring the regularity

of expenditure and income. My responsibility is to audit

and express an opinion on the financial statements in

accordance with applicable law and International Standards

on Auditing (UK and Ireland) as required by the Code of

Audit Practice approved by the Auditor General for

Scotland. Those standards require me to comply with the

Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors.

I am also responsible for giving an opinion on the 

regularity of expenditure and income in accordance with

the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements 

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts

and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give

reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free

from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or

error.This includes an assessment of: whether the 

accounting policies are appropriate to the body's 

circumstances and have been consistently applied and 

adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant

accounting estimates made by the Accountable Officer ;

and the overall presentation of the financial statements.

It also involves obtaining evidence about the regularity of

expenditure and income. In addition, I read all the financial

and non-financial information in the annual report to 

identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial

statements. If I become aware of any apparent material

misstatements, irregularities, or inconsistencies I consider

the implications for my report.

Opinion on financial statements 

In my opinion the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view in accordance with the 

Crofters (Scotland) Act 1993, as amended by the 

Crofting Reform (Scotland) Act 2010 and directions 

made thereunder by the Scottish Ministers of the state

of the body's affairs as at 31 March 2014 and of its net

operating cost for the year then ended;

• have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs

as adopted by the European Union, as interpreted and

adapted by the 2013/14 FReM; and 

• have been prepared in accordance with the 

requirements of the Crofters (Scotland) Act 1993, as 

amended by the Crofting Reform (Scotland) Act 

2010 and directions made thereunder by the 

Scottish Ministers.



Opinion on regularity 

In my opinion in all material respects the expenditure and

income in the financial statements were incurred or

applied in accordance with any applicable enactments and

guidance issued by the Scottish Ministers.

Opinion on other prescribed matters 

In my opinion:

• the part of the Remuneration Report to be audited 

has been properly prepared in accordance with the 

Crofters (Scotland) Act 1993, as amended by the 

Crofting Reform (Scotland) Act 2010 and directions 

made thereunder by the Scottish Ministers; and 

• the information given in the Strategic Report and 

Directors' Report for the financial year for which the 

financial statements are prepared is consistent with 

the financial statements.

Matters on which I am required to report by exception 

I am required to report to you if, in my opinion:

• adequate accounting records have not been kept; or 

• the financial statements and the part of the 

Remuneration Report to be audited are not in 

agreement with the accounting records; or 

• I have not received all the information and 

explanations I require for my audit; or 

• the Governance Statement does not comply with 

guidance from the Scottish Ministers.

I have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Asif A Haseeb

Audit Scotland

8 Nelson Mandela Place

Glasgow G2 1BT

August 2014 
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE NET EXPENDITURE
for the year ended 31 March 2014

Operating costs

Staff costs

Other administration costs

Depreciation and Amortisation

Net operating cost

Note

2

3

3,6,7

2013-14

£000

1,766

655

81

2,502

2012-13

£000

1,807

733

91

2,631

CATRIONA MACLEAN

Chief Executive and Accountable Officer

Date: 6th August 2014



2014

£000

108

89

197

65

58

123

320

135

40

175

145

145

145

CATRIONA MACLEAN

Chief Executive and Accountable Officer

Date: 6th August 2014 

Non-current assets

Property, plant & equipment

Intangible assets

Total non-current assets

Current assets

Trade & other receivables

Cash & cash equivalents

Total current assets

Total assets

Current liabilities

Trade & other payables

Other liabilities

Total current liabilities

Non-current assets less net 

current assets

Assets less liabilities

Taxpayers equity

General fund

Note

6

7

9

10

11

11

2013

£000

32

84

116

49

46

95

211

107 

- 

107

104

104

104

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
for the year ended 31 March 2014
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 31 March 2014

Cash flows from operating activities

Net operating cost

Adjustment for non-cash transactions

Depreciation and Amortisation

Salaries paid directly by the Scottish Government

Movements in working capital

(increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables

Increase (decrease) in trade & other payables

Net cash outflow from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant & equipment

Purchase of intangible assets

Net cash flow from investing activities

Capital costs paid directly by the Scottish Government

Cash flows from financing activities

Grant-in-Aid

Net funding

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash & cash equivalents at the beginning of the period

Cash & cash equivalents at the end of the period

Note

6,7

2

9

11

6

7

2013-14

£000

(2,502)

81

1,385

(16)

69

(983)

(101)

(62)

(163)

1,158

1,158

12

46

58

2011-12

£000

(2,631)

91

1,466

(49)

101 

(1,022)

-

(6)

(6)

1,068

1,068

40

6

46

CATRIONA MACLEAN

Chief Executive and Accountable Officer

Date: 6th August 2014



STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN TAXPAYERS EQUITY
for the year ended 31 March 2014

Balance at 1 April 2012

Changes in taxpayers equity for 2012-13

Net operating cost for the year

Total recognised expenditure for 2012-13

Costs paid direct by the Scottish Government

Net funding

Balance at 31 March 2013

Changes in taxpayers' equity for 2013/14

Net operating cost for the year

Total recognised expenditure for 2013-14

Costs paid direct by the Scottish Government

Net funding

Balance at 31 March 2014

201

(2,631)

(2,631)

1,466

1,068

104

(2,502)

(2,502)

1,385

1,158

145

£000

CATRIONA MACLEAN

Chief Executive and Accountable Officer

Date: 6th August 2014
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

1. Statement of accounting policies

The financial statements have been prepared in 

accordance with the 2013-14 Government Financial

Reporting Manual (FReM) issued by HM Treasury.

The accounting policies contained in the FReM apply

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as

adapted or interpreted for the public sector context.

Where the FReM permits a choice of accounting policy,

the accounting policy which is judged to be the most

appropriate to the particular circumstances of the

Crofting Commission (CC) for the purposes of giving a

true and fair view has been selected.The particular 

policies adapted by CC are described below.They have

been applied consistently in dealing with items that are

considered material to the accounts.

The accounts have been prepared on a going concern

basis.

1.1 Accounting convention

These accounts have been prepared under the historical

cost convention modified to account for the revaluation

of property, plant & equipment and intangible assets

where material at their value to the organisation by 

reference to their current cost.

1.2 Property, plant and equipment

The CC occupies a share of space in a building owned,

furnished and maintained by Scottish Natural Heritage

(SNH) and pays a share of building operating costs to

SNH pro-rata to the space occupied. CC does not own

any property.

In line with Scottish Government policy, where small

items of furniture, fixtures or fittings are purchased they

are written off to revenue in the year of purchase.

Information technology hardware items with a cost of

over £5000 are capitalised. Where individual items cost

less than £5,000, but where the class of asset in 

aggregate costs over £5000, they are capitalised. In 

particular this applies to purchase of desktop and laptop

PCs, servers and associated hardware, which are 

depreciated over their useful economic lives, considered

to be 3 years.

IT assets are carried at fair value. Depreciated historical

cost has been used as a proxy for fair value for IT 

equipment as it is not practical to obtain valuations due

to low values of this class of assets.

1.3 Intangible assets

Intangible assets are valued at cost and subsequently at

fair value using the revaluation model.Where an active

market does not exist, non-income generating assets are

carried at amortised historic cost.These valuations are

considered to be a proxy for fair value. Items with a cost

of over £5000 are capitalised.Where individual items

cost less than £5,000, but where the class of asset in

aggregate costs over £5000, they are capitalised. Future

economic benefit has been used as the criteria in 

assessing whether an intangible asset meets the definition

criteria of IAS38 where assets do not generate income.

IAS38 defines future economic benefit as "revenue from

the sale of products or services, cost savings, or other

benefits resulting from the use of the asset by the entity".

General operating system or office software licences are

amortised over their useful economic life.This is 

considered to be 3 years.

1.4 Value Added Tax

The activities of the CC are such that it is not currently

eligible to register for VAT and cannot recover VAT 

on expenditure. Expenditure is stated including 

irrecoverable VAT for operating costs or capitalised

assets.

1.5 Salaries and pensions

All current CC staff are Scottish Government employees.

Salary and pensions costs are paid directly by the

Scottish Government.These costs as reported in the

Commission's accounts relate to the period during

which it benefits from the employee's services.This

includes amounts covered by the provisions of the 

principal Civil Service Pension Scheme, a defined benefit

scheme, which are paid by the Scottish Government to

the PCSPS on an accruing basis. Liability for payment of

future benefits is a charge on the PCSPS.



Board Members are paid directly by the CC accordance

with arrangements determined by the Scottish

Government. Current Board Members' appointments are

non-pensionable.

Four former Chairmen, or their dependents, of the

Crofters Commission (the predecessor body to the CC),

are paid under a pension-by-analogy scheme 

administered and paid directly by the Scottish 

Government, charged and recognised in the CC

accounts in the same way as staff salaries.

1.6 Leases

The Commission currently has no operating or finance

leases.

1.7 Trade payables

The CC policy is to pay all invoices not in dispute within

10 days of receipt and to pay disputed invoices on 

resolution of the dispute within these terms.

2 Board members, staff numbers and related costs

Wages & salaries

Social security costs

Other pension costs

Temporary staff

Permanent

staff

£000s

1,104

81

187

-

1,372

Board 

members

£000s

87

3

-

-

90

Others

£000s

-

-

11

293

304

Total

2013-14

£000s

1,191

84

198

293

1,766

Total

2012-13

£000s

1,280

92

222

213

1,807

Costs paid directly by the Scottish Government included in the above were

During the year, three members of staff took advantage

of an early retirement/early departure scheme provided

and funded by the Scottish Government.The costs of

this scheme have been and will continue to be reported

in the accounts of the Scottish Government. In addition,

an ex-gratia payment in respect of early departure of

£57,000 was negotiated by the Scottish Government in

respect of one of these staff and charged to the CC

accounts. This cost is included in the figures above. No

other payments were made by the CC under early

retirement/early departure schemes during the year.

Permanent staff costs

Pensions paid to former Commissioners under "other pension costs”

2013-14

£000s

1,374

11

2012-13

£000s

1,455

11
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2012-13

£000s

2,591

2,631

6

(46)

2,549

2,534

2,494

2013-14

£000s

2,610

2,502

163

(55)

2,547

2,543

2,531

Commissioners

Former Commissioners

Permanent staff

Agency staff

-

-

40.9

-

40.9

-

4.0

-

9.3

13.3

2.1

-

-

-

2.1

2.1

4.0

40.9

9.3

56.3

2.2

4.0

44.0

8.0

58.2

Average number of persons employed (full-time equivalent)
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Accommodation expenses
Information systems & telecommunications
Training
Communication
Regulatory advertising expenses
Assessors' conference & travel expenses
Travel & subsistence - staff
Travel & subsistence - Commissioners
Legal fees
External Auditor's remuneration
Internal Auditor's remuneration
Other running costs
Non-cash items
Depreciation
Amortisation

2013-14
£000s

174
114
33
23
29
7

21
44
84
14
11

101

24
57

736

2012-13
£000s

183
145
46
27
35
34
22
49
90
14

-
88

16
75

824

3 Other administration costs

4 Outturn against budget

Gross budget

Resource outturn

Capital expenditure

Budget surplus/(shortfall)

Grant in aid cash and cash equivalents (including salaries

paid direct by the Scottish Government)

Grant in aid allocation

Grant in aid drawn down

Grant in aid spent

(2.1%)

99.8%

99.4%

(1.8%)

99.4%

97.8%



5 Reconciliation of net resource outturn to net cash requirement in 2013-14

Resource outturn

Capital - acquisition of tangible assets

Capital - acquisition of intangible assets

Non-cash items

Salaries paid directly by the Scottish Government

Depreciation and amortisation

Changes in working capital

Total cash payments during year

Grant-in-aid payments received

Surplus of Grant-in-Aid receipts over cash payments for the year 

to cover year end creditors due payment in 10 days and similar outlays

Budget

2,610

-

-

2,610

Outturn

2,502

101

62

2,665

(1,385)

(81)

(53)

1,146

1,158

12

Variance

108

(101)

(62)

(55)
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS...CONT
6 Property, plant and equipment

Cost
1st April 2012
Disposals
31st March 2013

Depreciation
1st April 2012
Charged in year
Disposals
31st March 2013

Net book value at
31st March 2012
31st March 2013

Cost
1st April 2013
Additions
31st March 2014

Depreciation
1st April 2013
Charged in year
31st March 2014

Net book value at
31st March 2013
31st March 2014

£000s
125
(26)

99 

(77)
(16)

26
(67)

48
32

98
101
199

(67)
(24)
(91)

31
108

The CC office is provided by and shared with SNH. Furniture & equipment is provided by SNH. The CC's capitalised

property, plant and equipment consists of IT hardware used for carrying out the Commission's work.

7 Intangible assets

Cost
1st April 2012
Additions
31st March 2013

Amortisation
1st April 2012
Charged in year
31st March 2013

Net book value at
31st March 2012
31st March 2013

Cost
1st April 2013
Additions
31st March 2014

Amortisation
1st April 2013
Charged in year
31st March 2014

Net book value at
31st March 2013
31st March 2014

£000s
609

6
615

(456)
(75)

(531)

153
84

615
62

677

(531)
(57)

(589)

84
89

Intangible assets comprise software used for carrying out the Commission's work.



Amounts falling due within one year

Trade payables
Accruals
Other liabilities

Intra government balances
Balances with other central government bodies
Balances with bodies external to central government

Receivables
Prepayments

Intra government balances
Balances with other central government bodies
Balances with bodies external to government

8 Financial instruments

For normal operating purposes the Commission holds no cash or cash-equivalent balances other than those required

to pay current creditors - salaries and trade creditors.The CC's financial assets consist solely of cash at bank.

Cash authorisation is provided by the Scottish Government to the extent that expenditure is covered by budget

authority.The CC is not therefore exposed to liquidity risks.

9 Trade receivables and other current assets

10 Cash and cash equivalents

31st Mar
2014

£000s
11
54
65

26
39
65

31st Mar
2013

£000s
-

49
49

15
34
49

Balance at 1st April
Net change in cash & cash equivalents
Balance at 31st March

The following balances at 31st March were held at
Commercial banks and cash in hand
Balance at 31st March

2014
£000s

46
12
58

58
58

2013
£000s

6
40
46

46
46

11 Trade payables and other current liabilities 31st Mar
2014

£000s

37
98
40

175

22
153
175

31st Mar
2013

£000s

32
75

-
107

28
79

107
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS...CONT

Accruals noted separately in last year's accounts have

been included in trade and other payables in the

Statement of Financial Position for both 2012-13 and

2013-14. Other liabilities are payments made in

respect of Crofting Register fees held on behalf of the

applicant either as uncashed cheques or in a 

designated bank account for collection by Registers 

of Scotland.

12 Provision for liabilities and charges

There were no provisions for liabilities or charges.

13 Capital commitments

There were no capital commitments not otherwise

included in these financial statements.

14 Commitments under leases

There were no commitments under operating or

finance leases.

15 Commitments under PFI and other service 

concession contracts

There were no commitments under PFI or other 

service concession contracts.

16 Related party transactions

The CC is an NDPB sponsored by the Scottish

Government and considers the following bodies to 

be related parties:

The Scottish Government: the CC had significant 

financial and non-financial transactions with the

Scottish Government in the year. Financial transactions

with the Scottish Government comprised full funding

of £2,543,000 as disclosed in the Changes in Taxpayers

Equity statement.

Scottish Natural Heritage: the CC occupies premises

shared with and provided by Scottish Natural

Heritage, who provide office and other related services

to the CC, with significant financial and non-financial

transactions during the year. Financial transactions with

SNH comprised £227,000 for occupation of office

premises at Great Glen House and related services.

17 Contingent liabilities

Under current legislation appeals against certain 

decisions of the Commission may be made to the

Scottish Land Court. It is therefore possible in any

given year that costs of defending such appeals, and/or

third party costs in relation to such appeals awarded

against the Commission, may be borne by the

Commission in respect of prior year decisions.The

Commission's Scottish Government sponsor branch

has stated that where such costs are unable to be met

from within the Grant-in-Aid allocation, the Scottish

Government will look favourably on requests for 

additional resources and will undertake to meet such

costs, on the provisos that the Commission exercised

due diligence, took appropriate legal advice and

explored all avenues to fund those costs itself.

18 Segmental information

The CC operates as a single organisation and does not

contain components which can be defined as 

operating segments in terms of IFRS 8. Accordingly it is

not possible to provide financial and descriptive 

information about reportable segments other than as

specified below. During 2012-13 and 2013-14, the

Commission received specific ring-fenced funding for

mapping common grazings areas and the financial

information can be reported as follows

19 Events after the reporting period

On 24th July 2014 the Commission was notified of

legal costs of £17,000 awarded against it following a

Scottish Land Court appeal.These costs were incurred

prior to 31st March 2014, were known with certainty,

comprised an adjusting event as defined in IAS10 and

have therefore been included as an accrual in these

financial statements.There were no other events after

the reporting period requiring disclosure under IAS 10.

Cost of agency staff engaged
for common grazings 
mapping project

Other operating costs

Total net operating costs

2013-14

112

2,390

2,502

2012-13

98

2,533

2,631
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Lifting tatties Bartleskirk Norwick Unst Shetland - photo by Heather Gray     






